69031-1

69031-1

COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Case Number 69031-1-I

SHELLEY GOLLARD MIDKIFF, Respondent

v

STEVEN LINVEL MIDKIFF, Appellant

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

FEDERAL
COURT OF APPEALS
DIVISION I
STATE OF WASHINGTON
2013 MAR 13 PM 4:28

ASSIGNMENT OF ERRORS

1. The trial court failed to characterize the funds used to acquire the real property in question as community or separate at the time of the funds were expended.

The funds should have been characterized as a gift to the community to determine the nature of the funds originally paid and payments made towards the asset both before and after separation.

2. The trial court erred in valuing and awarding the wife's down payment on a home at a "current market value" of the equity purchased by the wife, as opposed to the equity actually existing in the asset at the time of separation.

The court made its award based on the sum made as a down payment on a home purchase by both parties. The court found that the current value of that down payment to be the basis for the award of a sum which is more than the current value of the asset itself due to a decrease in market value.

3. The judgment awarded the wife did not consider the decrease in value due to "market forces" to the separate property of the husband as was considered in the decrease in value to the wife.

While the court took into account the reduction in value of the home purchased by the parties hereto after marriage, consideration was only given to the reduction in value of the asset of the home purchased with wife's down payment wife and not the decrease in value of the husband's separate home. The wife was then given a judgment from the husband's asset. The husband suffered from the same loss of value in his separate property as did the wife.

4. The court valued the real property at its actual equity value, market value less the mortgage obligation. The court then awarded 100 per cent of the equity in the home to the wife. In addition the court then awarded more than the actual equity value of the asset to her. The additional award was based on the current market value of the down payment as opposed to the equity value of the asset itself.

The court thus made the husband an insurer of an investment made by the wife or the community when the investment decreased in value. The husband was obligated not only to compensate the wife for the actual mortgage payments but was also required to cover any losses she suffered from a declining asset. This was done with no showing of waste or abuse of community or separate assets.

5. The court has taxed the husband with reimbursement to the wife having benefitted "unduly" from the wife's investment.

The investment was made by both the husband and wife as the mortgage requirements could not be met without the income and credit of both spouses.

The husband met the obligations on the mortgage both during the marriage and after the separation benefitting from his contributions as did the wife from hers.

There is no evidence of undue benefit.

6. The court split equity of the family home and the husband's separate property equally awarding the wife both the entire equity from the family home and \$81,000.00 from the husbands separate property as a fair and equitable division. The court based that award on acknowledging the benefit enjoyed by both parties from the "wife's investment of equity."

The wife's investment of equity is based on the down payment she made and not the value of the asset which she was awarded in its entirety. Had the husband not pledged his credit and income the wife would not have been able to enjoy the home as the husband did.

7. The court did not consider the economic circumstances the parties will be left in post divorce nor could they put each into the same position they enjoyed prior to the short term marriage.

Though the wife has lost value in the home purchased with the husband the

husband has lost value in his home as well. The parties earned approximately the same amount and with the wife having several retirement investments and a pension while the husband has nearly nothing. This judgment leaves him in a substantially less advantageous position than the wife.

8. The award was not fair and equitable based on the law and facts presented to the trial court.

It is not fair and equitable to tax one party for losses incurred by a good faith investment whether the investment is made with separate funds or community funds when the cause of the loss is not controlled by either party and both parties suffer from the loss.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Dissolution of Marriage of the parties was tried before the Honorable Suzanne Barnett in the King County Superior Court on February 23, and February 29, 2012. The Petitioner in the Superior Court and the Respondent in this appeal is Shelley Golard Midkiff the Respondent and Appellant is Steven Linvel Midkiff.

The parties were married on June 28 2008 and separated on March 18 2011. They were married for 32 months. At the time of the filing each party was 60 years of age.

At the time of trial the Respondent earned about \$59,400.00 per year RP at 5, I. 4, Ex. 1. Respondent in addition to her wages receives employment benefits and contributes to retirement plans, retirement savings and investment accounts and receives contributions to a pension. Ex. 5-10. Respondent also realizes the benefit of subsidized health care both medical and dental as well as a bus pass. RP at 19, I. 4-9, 15, 23. Appellant earns between \$60,000.00 and \$68,000.00 per year. RP at 80, I. 5-8, Ex. 51. He is self employed and owns his business and has no employment benefits or retirement benefits.

The Appellant has agreed and indicated at trial that he is not seeking an award of

any of Respondent's wages, retirement employment benefits or anything of that nature. RP at 19-22. Respondent has agreed and testified to the fact that she is making no claim to the business owned by Appellant or to the home he owns in Bothell, Washington. RP at 51, ll. 18-25 and 52, l. 1.

The Appellant owned a home in Bothell, Washington prior to this marriage which is valued at about \$340,000 in the fall off 2010. RP at 106, ll. 2-3. There is presently owing on that home between \$90,000.00 and \$100,000.00. RP at 104-105.

Respondent owned a home prior to her marriage to Appellant, which she sold subsequent to their marriage in June of 2008. Respondent received \$201,000.00 from the sale of that home and in July of 2008 she and the Appellant purchased the home which was valued, characterized and sold as a result of the trial from which this appeal is being taken. Respondent placed a down payment on that home in the sum of \$195,000.00. RP at 24, ll. 24-25 and at 25, ll. 1-9. The purchase price of the home was \$650,000.00. RP at 26, ll. 7-8.

In order for the home to be purchased it was necessary for the Appellant to become obligated on the mortgage and to pledge his credit and income to allow the parties to qualify for the loan. RP at 27, ll. 7-14. The mortgage amount was about \$460,000.00 when assumed by the parties. The parties refinanced the loan in 2009 to obtain a lower interest rate. The mortgage balance at that time had reduced to

\$455,000.00 or \$456,000.00. RP at 28, II. 8-10.

The parties separated March 18, 2011 with Respondent leaving the family home after informing the Appellant on March 12 that she was separating. All her possessions were removed on March 18, 2011. Up to that time and until the home was actually sold Appellant had made all the mortgage payments on the house. RP at 47, II. 10-20.

At the time of trial an appraiser valued the home at a current market value of \$560,000.00. RP at 64, II. 6-7. The current mortgage balance is approximately \$442,000.00. RP at 31, II. 1-2. The home has reduced in value from the purchase price of \$650,000 to \$560,000 a reduction of \$90,000.00 or approximately 14 per cent of its value during the marriage according to the Findings of Fact CP 22 and Decree of Dissolution CP 21.

The court found that \$195,000.00 of separate property proceeds were put into the marital home. The husband's contributions to the marital home equity were made through monthly mortgage payments as community property. That market forces drove the value of the home down by 14 percent. The current market value of the wife's down payment is \$167,700.00. The husband's pre marital home has an equity value of \$240,000.00. The wife has traced her separate property contributions to the marital real property. She contributed 30 percent of the purchase price and under normal circumstances she should receive \$54,495.00. That the husband has benefitted unduly

from the sale of the wife's home. An award of the entirety of the equity left in the marital home and a judgment of \$81,200.00 should be entered against the husband as one half the equities in the marital home and the Appellants separate home. The court found this to be a fair and equitable award. CP 22 at 3.

Appellant appeals from the award of the sum of \$80,200.00.

ARGUMENT

The parties were married on June 28, 2008 and separated March 18 2011. In July of 2008 the parties purchased a home in Seattle paying \$650,000. \$195,000 from the sale of the wife's former residence was used for a down payment and a mortgage was obtained for the remainder of the purchase price based on the incomes and credit of the parties. Both parties agree that neither could afford the monthly mortgage payments from their incomes nor would they have been granted the loan without their combined incomes. The husband is purchasing a home in Bothell which he acquired prior to the marriage which is presently rented and is his separate property.

During the marriage the parties earned approximately the same amount of income, the wife about \$59,000 plus employment benefits and the husband between \$60,000 and \$67,000 from the business he owned. The husband paid each and every mortgage payment from his income and the wife paid for other community obligations.

The parties separated in March of 2011 and a Dissolution of Marriage was immediately filed by the wife who had vacated the home. The husband continued to pay the entirety of the mortgage payments and costs of the home.

The parties agreed to a division of all personal property, retirement benefits and investments as well as the separate ownership of the Bothell home by the husband. The husband agreed to remain in the home and make the mortgage payments for a

period of time awaiting sale. It was agreed that upon sale of the home the wife would receive any and all of the net equity value from the sale. The home was purchased for \$650,000 and was valued by appraisal at trial at \$560,000 a reduction in market value of \$90,000 or 14% of its value.

The only significant question at trial was how much the wife would receive in a property settlement given the sale of the home. The husband's position was that the entirety of the sale proceed should be awarded to the wife. The wife claimed a right to be reimbursed for her down payment from the husband.

The court awarded the proceeds from the sale of the home to the wife and a judgment to the wife of \$81,200. The husband was to pay the mortgage and expenses on the home until sale. The home sold in September of 2011.

CHARACTERIZATION OF OWNERSHIP

The court must characterize the property as either community or separate before it makes an award. In re Marriage of Irwin 64 Wn. App. 38 XXXXXXXXXX and the court will only find reversible error if the ruling would have been different based on an erroneous characterization. The characterized the properties as follows

"Wife has clearly traced her separate property to the marital real property" and "Husband's contribution to the marital home equity, through monthly payments mortgage payments, was community property." CP 22

In re the Estate of Borghi 219 P3d 932 discusses at length the question of

whether real property acquired prior to marriage changed in character from separate to community by placing a spouses name on the asset at the time of acquisition. There is no question that the \$195,000 used as a down payment was the separate property of the wife due to her ability to trace the down payment to the separate funds. Cross, 61 Wash. L Rev at 29, 55-56 Weber, 19 Washington Practice, Family and Community Property Law sec 11.13.2.1997) In re Marriage of Skarbek 100 Wn. App. 444, 448 (2000). The question arises, however, in that not only was the wife's separate property used to obtain the mortgage but also the husband's income and credit. It was admitted at trial that without both the pledges for payment of the husband and wife the mortgage would not be granted. RP 46, II.12-18. It is arguable that the use of community funds and income in order to allow the purchase is an indication that the community was also to benefit from the down payment and that the purchase was made by community credit and income and therefore a community asset. The title was taken in both names as could afford the home or meet mortgage requirements alone.

Though there is no specific finding as to the character of the home itself the court has made the finding:

Wife has clearly traced the separate property contribution to the marital real property. CP at 3 I.16

VALUATION OF PROPERTY

The Seattle marital home was purchased for \$650,000. RP 26. I. 8. Testimony at trial from an appraiser set the market value of the asset at \$560,000. A real estate

broaker testified that she would list the home at \$575,000 and reduce it to \$550,000 if it didn't sell within three weeks. RP at 94 ll. 6-9. The Bothell property was not appraised. The debt on the home was established at \$100,000. RP at 104 ll.13-19. The market value was established at about \$340.000 RP at 137 ll.4-15. That leaves an equity value of \$240,000.

In evaluating the property in the findings of Fact the court made the following finding:

Market forces drove down the value of the marital home by approximately 14%. The current market value of the equity purchased with wife's down payment is thus \$167,000. CP 22 at p 3 ll. 11-12.

Appellant's Bothell home was valued in the Findings of Fact at the equity value of \$240.000. No actual Market value was specifically found for the Seattle home. No finding was made with regard to the loss in value of the Appellant's Bothell home due to "market forces" which had also reduced the value of the Seattle home." The court did, however, place a "market value" on the equity value of the wife's down payment and not the equity of the asset itself. By the time this dissolution action was commenced the market value had decreased by \$90,000. In addition the market and equity values of the Appellants home in Bothell had decreased by about \$60,000. RP at137 ll. 4-15.

The court set out the following as a Finding of Fact:

The wife has clearly traced her separate property contribution to the marital real property. She contributed 30% of the purchase price. In other circumstances, Wife would recover 26%of the equity (30% down payment from separate property funds less 14% decline in the property value before dividing the

community property portion of any remaining equity. The circumstances of this case, however, demand a different calculation in order to assure a fair and equitable distribution of property between the parties. Specifically the parties anticipate a net equity in the property of approximately \$86,500.00. Granting the first 26% to Wife and dividing the balance would result in an award to the wife of approximately \$54,495 ($\$22,490 + 1/2 (64,010) = \$54,495$). Husband would then be left with an equity in his pre marital residence of over \$230,000, having benefitted from the parties joint decision to sell wife's home and keep husbands home for the benefit of the community.

In fairness and equity, husband and wife should split the remaining equity in both properties. Wife should receive all the equity from the marital residence plus and (sic) award from the husband in the amount of \$81,200.00 effectively dividing the equity in both properties equally and acknowledging the benefit enjoyed by both parties from the wife's investment in the community real property CP 22 at Page 3 ll. 16-25.

The court based its calculations on the equity value of the down payment made by the Respondent and never having found a value for the property nor cited the value of the mortgage balance due on the property. The case of In re Marriage of Greene 97 Wn. App.708 indicates that the failure to give an evaluation of the property in dispute is reversible error by making appellate review impossible. In this case all the calculations are based on the market value of the down payment made by the wife. In re Marriage of Dittmar 108 Wn. App. 1042 indicates that property values should be set at the fair market value of the asset. Though the case of In re Marriage of Zier 136 Wn. App.40. allows for discretion in valuing assets there seems to be no basis for valuing the current value of a down payment as opposed to the market value of the asset itself. The court concludes that the equity value of the home is \$86,500.00 and proceeded to award the Respondent the entirety of the actual equity value in the home plus an additional \$81,200.00. That award is based on what was found to be an equal split of the

combined equities of the two properties. CP at 3

PROPERTY DIVISION

Property acquired during marriage with the traceable proceeds of separate property funds is separate. In re Marriage of White 105 Wn. App. 545, 550 (2001) Property determined to be separate is presumed to retain that character until there is evidence to the contrary. In re the Marriage of Skarbeck 100 Wn. App. 444. Assuming that this is separate property and that the mortgage payments made on this house were from community funds the question arises as to the interest each party has in the value of the property and how should it be divided.

If the value of separate property increases that value is presumed to be separate as well. That presumption is rebuttable and by direct and positive evidence that an increase was attributable to community contributions. A spouse who contributes community funds or effort may be entitled to reimbursement for the portion of increase attributable to community contributions. The value of the increase may be determined by fixing the amount of the increase in the value to the sums contributed. Only the increase in value should be considered as the contributing spouse could pay or improve the other spouse completely out of the separate interest otherwise. In re Pearson-Maines 70 Wn. App 860 (1993), 855 P2d 1210, In re the Marriage of Elam 97 Wn. 2d 811(1982) 650 P2d 213. It is undisputed that all of the mortgage payments from the

signing of the mortgage to the separation of the parties to the time of sale were made by the Appellant. RP at 47, II. 6-15. The payments gave him a claim to some of the increase in the equity.

In the instant case the wife is entitled to any increase in the value of the Seattle home. Contributions from community sources which add value are reimbursable and are shared in proportion with the appreciation of the asset and the separate contributions. Increases due to inflation may be divided consistently with the proportion to the community and separate contributions. When community assets were used to make mortgage payments on the separate property home of the other spouse an equitable lien may be established. In re Pearson-Maines 70 Wn. App. 869. The court may, however, offset the right of reimbursement against any benefit a member of the community may have received from living rent free against that lien. In re the Marriage of Miracle 101 Wn. 2d 137 1984. The findings seem to take into consideration the fact that all mortgage payments were made by Appellant. Unfortunately instead of increasing equity the market caused a decrease in equity. The court ordered the entirety of the remaining equity awarded to the Respondent CP 22. That award was not contested and was agreed to by the Appellant.

These rules are reflected in not only the cases of home mortgages as delineated in the "mortgage rule" Cross, 61 WASH L. REV 80 In re Marriage of Zahm 138 W2d 213. but also in the case the purchase of stock options. The rules are the same with

any other asset acquired by the parties to a marriage. In re Marriage of Chumbley 150 Wn. 2d. 1 (2003), ruled that stock options acquired in much the same manner as the down payment and mortgage payments in the case at bar that the character of the stocks would be based and awarded on the rates of separate and community contributions of the parties.

It is clear from the entirety of the cases and circumstances cited that the Respondent believes there was not a gift from the separate property of the wife by way of the down payment on the home. Given the findings of the trial court the appellant is entitled to only a proportionate share of the increase in value attributable to his community contributions to the home in question. It is alleged and has been ordered that the Respondent is entitled to any increase in the value of the asset purchased with her down payment. It is also abundantly clear that she believes that down payment was made on behalf of her separately and for her own best interests. RP 51, 52 ll. 1-7, 55, ll.15-16, 57 4-11. Unfortunately and due to no fault of either party, instead of the asset appreciating it depreciated. All but \$86,500 of the equity which had once existed, whether from separate or community funds was dissipated. CP 22

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