69031-1

69031-1

NO. 69031-1-I

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION ONE
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

IN RE THE MARRIAGE OF:
SHELLEY GOLARD MIDKIFF,
RESPONDENT

and

STEVEN LINVEL MIDKIFF,
APPELLANT.

RESPONSE BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Laurie G. Robertson, WSBA #32521
Attorney for Respondent
1218 Third Ave., Suite 500
Seattle, WA 98101
206-624-3644
206-971-1661
wafamilylaw@yahoo.com

2013 APR 12 PM 2:13
COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION
STATE OF WASHINGTON

ORIGINAL

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

IV. ARGUMENT IN RESPONSE

A. Standard of Review

The trial court considered all the facts of the case and made a fair and equitable division of the property. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in dividing the property, both separate and community, of the parties. In this case, the findings of fact are supported by substantial evidence and even though the Court of Appeals might have resolved the factual dispute differently, it should not substitute its judgment for that of the trial court’s opinion. There is no basis for this court to reverse or alter the order of the trial court in this case.

Appellate courts apply the substantial evidence standard of review to findings of fact made by the trial judge. *See* WASH. STATE BAR ASS’N, WASHINGTON FAMILY LAW DESKBOOK section 65.4(1), at

65-9 (2nd ed. 2006); *Perry v. Costco Wholesale, Inc.* 123 Wn.App. 783, 792, 98 P.3d 1264 (2004). “Substantial evidence exists if the record contains evidence of sufficient quantity to persuade a fair-minded, rational person of the truth of the declared premise.” *In re Marriage of Griswold*, 112 Wn.App. 333, 339, 48 P.3d 1018 (2002)(quoting *Bering v. SHARE*, 106 Wn.2d 212, 220, 721 P.2d 918 (1986)). *See also, Perry*, 123 Wn.App. at 792. “The fact finder measures the witness credibility, and we [Court of Appeals] do not review that determination on appeal.” *Miles v. Miles*, 128 Wn.App. 64, 70, 114 P.3d 671 (2005). The Court in *Miles* further stated, “if supported by substantial evidence, we do not reverse a trial court’s findings of fact on appeal.” *Id.* at 69. *See also In re Marriage of Zahm*, 138 Wn.2d 213 (Wash. 1999), citing *In re Marriage of Crosetto*, 82 Wash.App. 545,556, 918 P.2d 954 (1996).

The higher courts have gone on to find that where the trial court has weighed the evidence, the reviewing court’s role is simply to determine whether substantial evidence supports the findings of fact and, if so, whether the findings in turn support the trial court’s conclusions of law. *In re Marriage of Greene*, 97 Wn.App. 708, 989 P.2d 144 (1999). A court should “not substitute [its] judgment for the trial court’s, weigh the evidence, or adjudge witness credibility.” *Id.* At 714 (citing *In re Marriage of Rich*, 80 Wn.App. 252, 907 P.2d 1234 (1996)). In *In re Sego*,

the Supreme Court held that the witnesses are before the trial court and the trial court is “more capable of resolving questions touching upon the weight and credibility than we are.” 82 Wash.2d 736, 740, 513 P.2d 831 (1973). The Supreme Court further stated that “as an appellate tribunal, we are not entitled to weigh either the evidence or the credibility of the witnesses even though we may disagree with the trial court in either regard.” *Id.* at 740.

The trial court, after hearing and seeing the witnesses and reviewing financial documents presented as exhibits, weighed the economic circumstances of the parties and the benefits they each received from the community estate. Based on the evidence, the trial court held that in fairness and equity, Respondent and Appellant should equally divide the equity in both remaining real properties. CP at 39. Respondent used all the equity from her premarital property to purchase the home the parties used during the marriage. Prior to the marriage Respondent owned a home with a mortgage she could afford, RP at 40, and with roughly \$200,000 in equity. RP at 25. After the marriage, Respondent owned a home that she could not afford to keep and her \$195,000 investment into that home had dwindled to less than half that amount. Respondent is a salaried employee making \$59,400 per year. RP at 18. She has some

retirement and investment accounts. RP at 19-21. She does receive subsidized medical insurance from her employer. RP at 19.

Appellant used the home purchased with Respondent's separate property as an office, storage space and parking facility for his business. RP at 32; RP at 52; RP at 107. Not only did Appellant use the residence but his adult children also lived in the home at various times. RP at 106-107. Appellant's business increased in value during the marriage. RP at 111. Appellant's income from his business increased during the marriage. RP at 117. Appellant received tax benefits for using the home as an office. Contrary to Appellant's statements, Appellant does receive benefits as several of his expenses are paid by the business. RP at 118. Appellant left the marriage with his business worth \$250,000. RP at 111.

Appellant owned a home in Bothell prior to the marriage. The parties agreed to retain that home as a long term investment. RP at 24; CP at 39. During the marriage, Appellant's Bothell property provided income which he used to pay the mortgage. RP at 76. It retained equity although there is no dispute that it too lost some equity. Both homes lost equity. Appellant also made improvements to the Bothell home during the marriage. RP at 104-105.

The court used the actual equity, or as close as possible to it, since the marital home had not yet been sold, for both homes in dividing the

property. CP at 39. The court did not “tax” Appellant with Respondent’s loss. The court looked at what the parties came into the marriage holding and what was remaining at the end of the marriage. The court fairly divided the remaining equity in both properties. As Appellant was granted possession of the Bothell property which had more equity, he was ordered to make an equalizing payment to Respondent. CP at 39. Appellant kept his business and Respondent kept her investment accounts. The court’s division of the property was fair and equitable. There is no basis for this court to remand or revise the order of the trial court.

B. Characterization of the Property

Appellant lists as one of the trial court’s errors that the court failed to characterize Respondent’s separate property contribution as community or separate property. Appellant goes on to state that the funds should have been characterized as a gift to the community. He raises the issue in his Assignments of Error, but does not argue why said contribution should be characterized as a gift. Later in Appellant’s brief he states the marital home was separate property and provides legal authority to support his position. Br. Appellant 15-16. The court found the funds to be separate property. CP at 39. There was no error in the lower court’s designation of the funds used by Respondent to purchase the marital home.

1) The Respondent's funds used to purchase the home were separate property

The trial court found that the funds used to purchase the home were the Respondent's separate property. CP at 39. "The character of property as community or separate is determined as of the date of acquisition." *In re Marriage of Janovich*, 30 Wn.App. 169, 632 P.2d 889 (1981). "Once established, separate property retains its separate character unless changed by deed, agreement of the parties, operation of law, or some other direct and positive evidence to the contrary." *In re Marriage of Skarbek*, 100 Wn.App. 444, 447, 997 P.2d 447 (2000), citing *In re Estate of Witte*, 21 Wash.2d 112, 125, 150 P.2d 595 (1944). In *In re Marriage of White*, 105 Wn. App. 545, 550, 20 P.3d 481 (2001), the Court of Appeals held that property acquired during the marriage is separate if "acquired during the marriage with the traceable proceeds of separate property." Moreover, in *In re Marriage of Chumbley*, 150 Wn.2d 1, 6, 74 P.3d 129, 131 (2003), the Supreme Court held "[p]roperty acquired during the marriage has the same character as funds used to purchase it." The proceeds from Respondent's premarital home which were used to purchase the marital home were Respondent's separate property.

Further, the Supreme Court recognized the "mortgage rule" which occurs when property is purchased with separate funds and the remainder is

secured by a mortgage. 150 Wn.2d 8. In such a case the value of the property “will be divided according to the contribution of each.” *Id.* At 8. In this case, the trial court discussed the application of the mortgage rule but recognized that in this case, sole application of the rule would not be a fair and equitable division of the parties’ property. CP at 39. To simply provide the Respondent her portion of the equity in the marital home ignores the other factors in this case and leaves only the Respondent in a worse situation than when she entered into the marriage.

There is no factual or legal basis to find that Respondent’s separate property funds were a gift to the community. The Washington State Supreme Court in *Estate of Borghi*, 167 Wn.2d 480, 219 P.3d 932 (Wash. 2009), rejected the erroneous joint title gift presumption which had previously been put forth in *Hurd and Olivares*. See also *In re Marriage of Hurd*, 29 Wash.App. 38, 848 P.2d 185 (1993); *In re Marriage of Olivares*, 69 Wn.App. 324, 848 P.2d 1281 (1993). *Borghi* involved a case in which real property acquired by the wife was brought into the marital community and the husband’s name was added to the title of it. *Borghi* at 483. The court held that to the extent *Hurd* and *Olivares* established a joint title gift presumption arising when one spouse places the name of the other spouse on the title to separate property, they are disapproved. *Borghi* at 490. The court noted, citing *Guye v. Guye*, 63 Wash. 340, 114 P. 731 (1911), that “the right of the

spouses in their separate property is as sacred as is the right in their community property, and when it is once made to appear that property was once of a separate character, it will be presumed that it maintains that character until some direct and positive evidence to the contrary is made to appear.” *Borgi* at 484 (citing *Guye v. Guye*, 63 Wash. 340, 352, 115 P. 731). Significantly, the evidence must show the intent of the spouse owning the separate property to change its character from separate to community property. *Guye* at 349. There was no evidence presented at trial nor does Appellant point to any evidence that indicates there was an intent on the part of the Respondent to make a gift of her separate funds. In fact, there is ample evidence in the record to effectively rebut the presumption that Respondent’s contribution of her separate property to the purchase price of the marital home was intended as a gift. RP at 14; RP at 25-26.

2) Mischaracterization of the property is not a basis to change the lower court’s decision

While a trial court must determine the nature and extent of the parties’ community and separate property prior to making a division of the property, RCW 26.09.080, mischaracterization of property is not grounds for setting aside a trial court’s allocation of liabilities and assets, so long as the distribution is fair and equitable. *In re Marriage of Brady*, 50 Wash.App. 728, 731, 750 P.2d 654 (1988). Where there is

mischaracterization, the reviewing court will remand if the reasoning of the lower court indicates that the property division was “significantly influenced by characterization and (2) that it is not clear had the court properly characterized the property, it would have divided it in the same way.” *In re Marriage of Shannon*, 55 Wash.App. 137, 142, 777 P.2d 8 (1989). Moreover, the Supreme Court has held, “this court will not single out a particular factor, such as the character of the property, and require as a matter of law that it be given greater weight than other relevant factors”. *In re Marriage of Konzen*, 103 Wn.2d 470, 478, 693 P.2d 97 (Wash. 1985). The Court found that “the statute directs the trial court to weigh all of the factors, within the context of the particular circumstances of the parties, to come to a fair, just and equitable division of property.” *Id.* at 478. “The character of the property is a relevant factor which must be considered, but is not controlling.” *Id.* at 478 (citing *In re Marriage of Hadley*, 88 Wash.2d 649, 656, 565 P.2d 790 (1977)).

In *Marriage of Worthington*, the Washington State Supreme Court ruled that even though the trial court may not have properly characterized the land in dispute, the court’s approach was correct in light of the facts of the case, the statute, emphasizing the necessity of a just and equitable division of the property, and the law which provides that all property of the parties, whether it be community or separate in nature is subject to the

jurisdiction of the court. *In Re Marriage of Worthington*, 73 Wn.2d 759, 440 P.2d 478 (Wash. 1968). The foregoing ruling makes clear that the characterization of the property is not necessarily controlling. *Id.* at 768. It is unnecessary to consider in detail whether certain property involved is to be characterized, piece by piece, as community or separate property. *Id.* at 769.

Even if the separate funds used by Respondent to purchase the marital home were mischaracterized, such mischaracterization does not affect the decision of the court. The parties entered the marriage with equity in two properties. At the end of the marriage the court looked at all the facts of the case and determined that the fair and equitable course of action was to equally divide the equity in both of the properties. CP at 39. Appellant offers no argument that had the court determined the marital home was strictly community property, the trial court would have divided the property differently. The trial court focused on the economic circumstances of the parties after the divorce. The trial court even mentioned during the trial that because this was a short term marriage, the goal was to put the parties into a similar situation as prior to the marriage. RP at 103-104. The significant loss of equity in the marital home made that a challenging task. Ultimately, there was no basis to leave one party with a lesser division of property.

Pursuant to the findings of fact that the trial court made, all assets and debts before it were not only characterized, but properly characterized. Furthermore, regardless of the characterization of the property, as cited above, any improper characterization is not grounds for remand because the trial court did not abuse its discretion in subsequently dividing the property in a fair and equitable manner.

C. Valuation of the Properties

1) The trial court did value the properties in determining the current equity and the court of appeals may look to the record for the actual market values of both properties

Appellant lists as assignments of error numbers two, three and four failure of the trial court to properly value the real properties in question. Appellant seems to find fault with the trial court focusing the findings on the current equity in the property. CP at 39. Obviously the trial court had to make a finding of the value of the properties in order to determine the equity in the properties. However, even if the trial court failed to value property, the appellate court may look to the record on appeal, which is complete, to determine the value of the assets, unless the values are in dispute. See *In re the Marriage of Hadley*, 88 Wash.2d 649, 656, 565 P.2d 790 (1977). The Supreme Court in *Hadley* stated, “the purpose of requiring that the trial court set forth its valuation of the property in a

dissolution action is to provide the appellate court with the opportunity to discover whether there has been an abuse of discretion.” *Id.* at 657. In fact the Court of Appeals in *Greene*, which Appellant cites, stated “the appellate court may look at the record to determine the value of the assets.” *In re the Marriage of Greene*, 97 Wn.App. 708, 712, 986 P.2d 144 (1999); citing *Hadley*. The Court goes on to state that it is only if the values are in dispute such that the appeals court cannot determine if the property division is equitable, the case should be remanded. *Greene* at 712; citing *In re Marriage of Martin*, 22 Wash.App. 295,298, 588 P.2d 1235 (1979).

In this case, the testimony and evidence provided the court with the market values of the properties which the trial court used to determine the equity. There was no dispute as to the value of the properties. As to the marital home, the appraiser testified as to the market value of the home to be \$560,000. RP at 62. Subsequently the real estate agent testified that she would list the home between \$570,000 and \$550,000. RP at 95. The remaining mortgage was \$442,094. RP at 30-31. The real estate agent further testified that closing costs would be paid by the seller and could be approximately nine percent of the sales price. RP at 95. The trial court took those values and determined the equity which was stated specifically in the findings. CP at 39.

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